





# CONSOLIDATING LEGACY APPLICATIONS ONTO SUN X64 SERVERS

HOW TO MOVE MICROSOFT WINDOWS NT APPLICATIONS ONTO SUN X64 SERVERS USING VMWARE ESX SERVER

Marshall Choy, Network Systems Group Technical Marketing

APPROVED

Part No 819-5548-10 Revision 1.0, 2/3/06 Edition: February 2006 Sun BluePrints™ OnLine — February 2006 © 2006 Sun Microsystems, Inc., 4150 Network Circle, Santa Clara, CA 95054 USA

#### All rights reserved.

This product or document is protected by copyright and distributed under licenses restricting its use, copying, distribution, and decompilation. No part of this product or document may be reproduced in any form by any means without prior written authorization of Sun and its licensors, if any. Third-party software, including font technology, is copyrighted and licensed from Sun suppliers.

Parts of the product may be derived from Berkeley BSD systems, licensed from the University of California.

Sun, Sun Microsystems, the Sun logo, BluePrints, Java, Solaris, and Sun Fire are trademarks, registered trademarks, or service marks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries.

UNIX is a registered trademark in the United States and other countries, exclusively licensed through X/Open Company, Ltd.

AMD Opteron and the AMD Opteron logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Advanced Micro Devices, Inc.

All SPARC trademarks are used under license and are trademarks or registered trademarks of SPARC International, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries. Products bearing SPARC trademarks are based upon an architecture developed by Sun Microsystems, Inc.

The OPEN LOOK and Sun™ Graphical User Interface was developed by Sun Microsystems, Inc. for its users and licensees. Sun acknowledges the pioneering efforts of Xerox in researching and developing the concept of visual or graphical user interfaces for the computer industry. Sun holds a non-exclusive license from Xerox to the Xerox Graphical User Interface, which license also covers Sun's licensees who implement OPEN LOOK GUIs and otherwise comply with Sun's written license agreements.

RESTRICTED RIGHTS: Use, duplication, or disclosure by the U.S. Government is subject to restrictions of FAR 52.227-14(g)(2)(6/87) and FAR 52.227-19(6/87), or DFAR 252.227-7015(b)(6/95) and DFAR 227.7202-3(a). DOCUMENTATION IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONDITIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT, ARE DISCLAIMED, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH DISCLAIMERS HELD TO BE LEGALLY INVALID.





# **Table of Contents**

Consolidating Legacy Applications onto Sun x64 Servers.	1
Scope of this Article	2
How this Article is Organized	3
Consolidation Process Overview.	4
VMware ESX Server	4
Virtual Disks	4
Virtual Networks	5
Virtual Removable Media Drives	5
Resource Management	5
Virtual to Physical Relationship	5
The Physical-to-Virtual Process	6
Before You Begin	8
IP Addresses and Networking Considerations	8
Sun Fire V40z Server	9
VMware Software	10
VMware Documentation	10
Microsoft Windows Software	11
VMware Service Console Requirements	11
Install VMware ESX Server Software	12
Initial ESX Server Installation	12
Initial Configuration	19
Create Helper Machine for P2V Assistant	23
Install Software on the Helper Machine.	26
Initial Windows NT Installation.	26
Install Service Pack 6a	29
Install VMware Tools	29
Install Internet Explorer 6	30
Install VMware P2V Assistant	31
Manage Files	31
Shutting Down	32
Consolidate the Physical Server into a Virtual Machine Environment.	33
Boot the Source Server With the P2V Boot CD.	33
Clone the Source Disk	35
Configure the Consolidated Virtual Machine	40
Test Your Application	42

Summary	43
About the Author	44
Marshall Choy	44
Acknowledgements	44
References	44
Ordering Sun Documents	44
Accessing Sun Documentation Online	44

# **Consolidating Legacy Applications onto Sun x64 Servers**

Many organizations are still running applications based on legacy operating systems, and there are several reasons why these organizations would prefer to continue to use them. Some may have deployed custom software for which the source code, programmers, or documentation are no longer accessible, making the effort of upgrading to current operating system versions difficult, costly, or time consuming. Some may have deployed commercial software, and are reluctant to undertake the effort and expense to license newer versions of the application and corresponding operating system software. And some may run commercial software for which there is no updated version.

Regardless of the reasons for staying with an older generation of operating systems, there are numerous reasons why the same organizations are motivated to upgrade the servers on which their older applications run:

- Hardware that was deployed years ago to support the applications is at the end of its useful life, with service contracts expiring, and the incidence of faults increasing.
- After years of keeping up with demands to constantly deploy new applications, datacenter space is scarce, leaving Information Technology (IT) organizations to find ways to deliver the same applications in the same space, using less power, and with less cooling expense. Older servers are less efficient by all measures.
- Old applications may need newer peripherals including Storage Area Network (SAN)-based storage systems, backup devices, and high-speed network interfaces.
- The CPU performance and memory capacity of older servers is severely limited, making it difficult to increase application throughput to support newer, larger workloads.

Unfortunately, a problem that prevents organizations from upgrading their server infrastructure is the lack of operating system drivers. In the case of the Microsoft Windows ("Windows") NT Server operating system, lack of drivers prevents the software from running on modern hardware, with faster processors, larger memory capacity, and up-to-date peripherals.

One solution that enables IT organizations to move legacy applications to up-to-date hardware is virtual machine technology. VMware ESX Server is a virtual machine operating system that supports multiple operating system instances on the same server. Organizations can use ESX Server to consolidate other applications, whether they run on Linux, supported versions of Windows, or any combination. Each operating system instance inhabits its own virtual machine, with virtual peripherals including CPU, memory, networks, and up to two disks (Figure 1). VMware ESX Server presents an idealized set of capabilities to each operating system instance, masking the complexities of new CPUs, larger memory sizes, peripherals, and storage. The software can present a set of virtual hardware consistent with the needs of Windows NT Server in one virtual machine instance, while presenting virtual hardware compatible with Windows 2003 in a different virtual machine instance.

The result is that IT organizations can support legacy applications on the latest servers without having to re-install or re-host the operating system or application software. Sun Fire<sup>™</sup> x64 servers with AMD

Opteron<sup>™</sup> processors provide significant computational resources so that IT organizations can consolidate multiple applications on supported operating systems onto a single server. This can help conserve datacenter space, power, and cooling, and can help to simplify system administration.



Figure 1. VMware ESX server presents a set of idealized hardware that is specific to, and compatible with, the intended host operating system, in this example, Windows NT, Windows 2003, and Linux operating systems.

A factor making this upgrade path more attractive is the existence of tools that can migrate the contents of legacy PC servers directly to virtual disks in VMware ESX Server. This straightforward process virtually eliminates the need to re-install the operating system, patches, configurations, application software, and data files on a new system, helping to reduce both administrator time and risk of error. VMware's P2V (Physical to Virtual) Assistant software creates a disk image of the PC server, and modifies the image so that it can be booted as a virtual disk in a Windows NT virtual machine.

### **Scope of this Article**

This Sun BluePrints<sup>™</sup> article describes how to move an example of one legacy operating system — Windows NT Server — to VMware ESX Server on a Sun Fire V40z server. The application itself was chosen for its simplicity — an Apache Web server. The details of the application are of minor interest, however, because an application running on Windows NT Server typically runs exactly the same way in the virtual environment as the physical one. Although this article contains specific details for accomplishing the physical-to-virtual process for Windows NT Server, the process is very similar for other OS versions, and the excellent documentation from VMware can help fill in any gaps if other OS version are used.

The step-by-step instructions described in this article were tested on a Sun Fire V40z server with four Single-Core AMD Opteron Processors. As of the date of this article, VMware ESX Server was supported on both the Sun Fire V40z and V20z servers with Single- and Dual-Core AMD Opteron processors. VMware ESX Server is also supported on Sun Fire X4100 and X4200 servers with Single- and Dual-Core AMD Opteron processors, in a boot-from-SAN configuration only. This procedure should work on the smaller Sun Fire V20z server, and the more current Sun Fire X4100 and X4200 servers, given a USB floppy drive and the boot-from-SAN capability. This procedure uses an off-the-shelf Sun Fire V40z server with internal SCSI disk drives. It does not describe how to integrate additional peripherals (such as Gigabit Ethernet cards or SAN-based storage).

#### How this Article is Organized

This Sun BluePrints article is divided into the following chapters:

- "Consolidation Process Overview" on page 4 provides a brief overview of VMware ESX Server software and how it maps virtual devices to the physical hardware on a Sun Fire V40z server. It provides a highlevel overview of the physical-to-virtual process that moves the contents of a physical server disk image into the virtual environment.
- "Before You Begin" on page 8 provides a checklist for the items that you should have on hand to make it
  easy to follow the consolidation instructions. It includes a list of IP addresses and networking
  considerations to make, references for setting up the Sun Fire V40z server, the VMware software and
  documentation to have on hand, and the Microsoft products that you will use.
- "Install VMware ESX Server Software" on page 12 provides step-by-step instructions for a basic installation of ESX Server on the Sun Fire V40z server. The chapter concludes with initial software configuration steps.
- "Create Helper Machine for P2V Assistant" on page 23 explains how to set up a virtual machine that will be used as the *helper machine* that runs VMware P2V Assistant software in a virtual machine environment. This software provides the link between imaging software on the physical server and a virtual disk in the ESX Server environment. Once the helper machine is configured, it can be used repeatedly to consolidate multiple Windows NT Server systems into the virtual machine environment.
- "Install Software on the Helper Machine" on page 26 provides step-by-step instructions for installing software into the helper machine, including installing Microsoft Windows NT Server software, the current service pack, VMware Tools, a current version of Microsoft Internet Explorer ("Internet Explorer"), and the VMware P2V Assistant software itself.
- "Consolidate the Physical Server into a Virtual Machine Environment" on page 33 gives the key step-bystep instructions for consolidating physical servers into the virtual machine environment. This straightforward set of steps includes *cloning*, or moving the contents of the physical server's disk into a virtual disk, reconfiguring the disk for the virtual environment, attaching it to a new virtual machine, and making final adjustments to drivers. Once this set of instructions are completed, a single Windows NT Server system will have been consolidated onto the Sun Fire V40z server.
- "Summary" on page 43 wraps up the article, provides background on the authors and other contributors, and lists references.

## Chapter 1 Consolidation Process Overview

This chapter introduces VMware ESX server concepts and describes the process of consolidating the example legacy system — a Windows NT Server OS and application — into a virtual machine environment.

### VMware ESX Server

VMware ESX Server is virtual infrastructure software that can help partition and consolidate multiple workloads onto a single server. It provides a layer of abstraction between the server hardware, the operating system, and the application software that runs on it. This allows ESX Server to support a different class of consolidation requirements than partitioning technologies like Solaris<sup>™</sup> Containers. ESX Server supports applications requiring kernel-level isolation, allowing multiple isolated operating systems to run on the same server. By virtualizing the hardware, a single system running ESX Server can support a heterogeneous environment, including multiple instances and different versions of Linux, FreeBSD, Novell Netware, and Windows operating systems.

VMware ESX Server implements abstractions that allow hardware resources to be allocated to multiple workloads in fully-isolated environments. VMware ESX Server runs directly on Sun Fire V20z and V40z servers to provide a secure, uniform platform for deploying, managing, and remotely controlling multiple OS instances. ESX Server provides an idealized hardware environment and virtualizes underlying physical resources. By presenting a set of standard x86-architecture hardware resources to *guest operating systems* in their own virtual machines, ESX Server supports the consolidation activities described in this article, as well as the ability to move a virtual machine image from machine to machine without having to exactly match CPUs, disk drivers, and network interfaces from one server to another.

Each virtual machine consists of idealized CPUs, memory, disk, peripheral, and network interfaces. Each environment has its own CPU, or multiple CPUs, with virtualization of the 32-bit x86 architecture complete down to the registers, translation lookaside buffer, and other control structures. Most instructions are directly executed on the physical AMD Opteron CPUs, allowing compute-intensive workloads to run at near-native speeds. While each guest operating system has the illusion that it owns up to 3.6 GB of contiguous memory, ESX Server actually manages memory so that physical memory in a virtual machine may actually be un-mapped or paged out. All of this takes place without the knowledge of, or interfering with, the guest operating system. All Disk storage devices are presented to the guest OS as a SCSI drive connected to a SCSI adapter. This is the only disk storage controller seen by the guest operating system, virtually eliminating the need to load third-party disk drivers into the OS.

### **Virtual Disks**

Each disk configured in a virtual machine is implemented by a single file on the physical server, the format of which is the same regardless of what type of device it actually resides on, including SCSI, RAID, and Fibre Channel devices. ESX Server stores these *virtual disks* in its own .vmdk format, stored on a high-speed, flat filesystem in VMware's vmfs2 format.

#### Virtual Networks

ESX Server can support up to four virtual network cards within each virtual machine, each of which is given its own unique Media Access Controller (MAC) address and one or more IP addresses. Each virtual network card is connected to a *virtual switch*. A virtual switch can be *internal*, configured to transmit packets between virtual machine instances without any physical network connection. A virtual switch can be *external*, connecting one or more virtual machines to a physical interface. An off-the-shelf Sun Fire V40z server has two Ethernet ports for system management, and two Ethernet ports for application use. ESX Server reserves the first port to support its Management User Interface (MUI), with the second port available for use by virtual machines.

#### Virtual Removable Media Drives

Peripheral devices such as CD, DVD, and floppy drives, are supported in ESX Server with a mechanism that *attaches* the corresponding physical drives on the server to one virtual machine at a time. Each virtual machine's virtual CD drive can be attached to a physical drive, or it can be attached to an ISO image of a CD, essentially allowing virtual CDs to be created that can be attached to multiple virtual machines.

#### **Resource Management**

The resource manager in ESX Server uses a proportional share mechanism to allocate CPU, memory, and disk resources across multiple virtual machines. Network bandwidth is controlled with network traffic shaping. Minimum and maximum percentages of a single CPU's processing power can be specified for each virtual machine. ESX Server also allows CPU shares and restricting a virtual machine to run on a specified set of physical CPUs through CPU scheduling affinity. Similarly, administrators can specify minimum and maximum memory sizes, as well as memory shares, for each virtual machine. In the case of consolidating multiple Windows NT workloads onto a single Sun Fire x64 server, the increased processing capacity of today's AMD Opteron processors is so much greater than Windows NT-era PCs that a significant number of Windows NT workloads can be consolidated onto a single four-socket server hosting four Single or four Dual-Core processors.

#### Virtual to Physical Relationship

Figure 2 illustrates the relationship of a set of example virtual machines to the physical hardware configured on a Sun Fire V40z server. For the sake of simplicity, not all devices are shown, and not all relationships are shown for each virtual machine.

The physical environment is represented in the outermost shaded box, and it illustrates a standard set of peripherals available with a Sun Fire V40z server: five SCSI disk drives, including one configured as the ESX Server boot disk and four configured with vmfs2 filesystems to hold virtual disks; a floppy and CD drive; two hardware management ports; Ethernet port 0, which is dedicated to the VMware service console, and Ethernet port 1, which can be used (and shared) by virtual machines.

The virtual environment is represented by the inner box containing virtual machines hosting Windows NT, Windows 2003, and Linux operating systems. Each VM has a single virtual disk attached to it, and each one has a single network interface. The VM running the Windows 2003 OS has a virtual CD drive. Peripheral devices can be created through the VMware management console, giving administrators the

flexibility to reproduce physical configurations — four network interfaces, for example — in the virtual environment. Example relationships between virtual and physical devices are illustrated, from left to right:

- The virtual disk for the VM running the Windows NT OS is physically a file stored in a vmfs2 filesystem on one of the Sun Fire V40z server's SCSI disks (this is the case with all virtual disks).
- A virtual CD drive in the VM running the Windows 2003 OS is currently attached to the Sun Fire V40z server's CD drive, and it has exclusive use of the drive.
- Network interfaces on the virtual machines running the Windows 2003 and Linux operating systems are connected to a virtual switch, which allows network traffic to pass onto a physical Ethernet network using the Sun Fire V40z server's Ethernet 1 port.



Sun Fire V40z Server Physical Environment

Figure 2. Virtual devices configured in the virtual environment created by VMware ESX Server can map to physical devices on a Sun Fire V40z server.

### **The Physical-to-Virtual Process**

In order to run multiple Windows applications on the same modern server hardware, the physical machine's data must be re-created in a virtual machine environment. At a high level, the physical-to-virtual (P2V) process is one that creates a disk image from the existing Windows NT server, transfers it to the Sun Fire server running ESX Server software, and attaches it to a virtual machine as a virtual disk device. The details are slightly more involved, and are illustrated in Figure 3.

 You boot the PC server to be consolidated using the VMware P2V Boot CD. The P2V software includes a standalone environment that can access disk storage on the PC server in order to transfer its contents to the VMware P2V Assistant running in a virtual machine on the Sun Fire server. The imaging process transfers actual disk content, not the entire disk block-by-block, making it a relatively efficient process.



Figure 3. The physical-to-virtual process makes an image of the source machine's disk in the virtual machine environment with the help of the P2V Assistant. The disk image is then attached to a new virtual machine and it is booted to run the source machine's software in a virtual machine.

2. The P2V Assistant runs on Microsoft Windows NT Server in a Microsoft Windows NT virtual machine called a *helper machine*. The P2V Assistant performs two key functions: it receives the contents of the PC servers' hard disk drive(s) stores them in one or more virtual disks that are temporarily attached to the helper machine, and it reconfigures the boot disk's image so that it is able to boot in the virtual machine environment. This includes installing appropriate boot blocks and a virtual display driver into the disk image.

The process of creating a disk image is called *cloning* in the VMware documentation. The list of hardware officially supported by the P2V disk is fairly limited. Because the current version is based on a Knoppix Linux distribution, a wider range of hardware devices actually work. For example, the PC server used to prepare this Sun BluePrints article was configured with a D-Link Ethernet interface, and P2V worked with no problem. In the event that P2V does not work on a specific PC platform, a disk image can be created using third-party disk imaging software like Symantec Ghost and then transferred to the helper machine for use by the P2V Assistant. Instructions for using third-party imaging tools are included in the VMware documentation and are not detailed in this article.

- 3. Once the disk image has been cloned and reconfigured by the P2V Assistant, you shut down the helper machine, detach the cloned virtual disk from the helper machine and attach it to a new virtual machine configured with peripherals that correspond to the source PC server. Additional disks can be imaged and attached to the new virtual machine. Unless a disk contains an operating system, the reconfiguration step can be skipped.
- 4. You boot the target virtual machine, install VMware Tools, a set of components that further optimizes the replicated system's operation. You install any necessary drivers, and the consolidated PC server is ready to resume operation in the virtualized environment.

The steps necessary to install and configure software that allows you to implement this simple procedure are the topics of the remaining chapters. Although there is a fair amount of setup work, once you have the basic components installed, the actual consolidation process is straightforward and not particularly time consuming. The setup and consolidation processes are much easier if you have the right materials on hand from the before you start, and that is the subject of the next chapter.

# Chapter 2 Before You Begin

The process of installing software and actually performing the consolidation is considerably easier if you have the right materials on hand. This chapter outlines what you need to have on hand before you get started installing software.

To evaluate whether the P2V procedure will work with your particular application, refer to "Application Compatibility" in the *VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual*. VMware's application compatibility information includes the details on the slight differences in the physical hardware that you may currently be using, and the virtual hardware provided by ESX Server. For example, network interface types, graphics cards, and disk controllers may be different, but are supported by the operating environment that this article helps you to set up.

### **IP Addresses and Networking Considerations**

You'll need to have host names, IP addresses, gateway addresses, name server addresses, and netmasks for the following uses:

Sun Fire V40z server management console address

This address is used to reach the lights-out management features of the Sun Fire V40z server through the system's pair of Ethernet interfaces dedicated to this purpose.

□ Sun Fire V40z server VMware service console address

This address will be used on Ethernet port 0 on the server, which is dedicated to support the VMware Management User Interface (MUI).

□ Sun Fire V40z server helper machine address

The helper machine used to host the P2V Assistant software needs its own IP address; this address will be used through Ethernet port 1 on the server.

Target virtual machine addresses

This is the address, or set of addresses, for the Windows NT virtual machine that will host the consolidated application. You can use the same address that the current PC server uses if you plan to shut it down after the P2V operation. This address will be used on Ethernet port 1 on the server.

□ PC server addresses

This is the address, or addresses, used on the PC server before the consolidation process.

□ P2V address

When you boot the PC server using the P2V Boot CD, you will need to give the system an IP address. You can use the same address that the PC server currently uses, however if you do so you must remember to power down the PC server before you bring up the consolidated application in its new virtual machine environment. Otherwise, you will have an address conflict on your network and your application may appear not to work. If you are going through this process for the first time in a lab environment, there is no problem having all three interfaces on the Sun Fire V40z server, and the PC server, on the same physical network. This configuration was used during the development of these procedures.

In production use, you may wish to have as many as three physical networks to separate management network traffic from traffic bound for applications hosted on the server:

- *Management network.* Use this network for server management traffic to the server's management port. Note that the console firmware uses encryption to secure traffic between the server and management systems.
- VMware management network. You may wish to have a separate network for accessing the VMware MUI to administer the ESX Server software and access virtual machine consoles. By default, the VMware MUI uses Secure Socket Layer (SSL) encryption for its Web-based interface. Given the fact that console users can modify VM configurations or even shut them down, it's best to keep this traffic on a secured network.
- *Public network*. This network connects to Ethernet port 1 on the Sun Fire V40z server, and is used for traffic to and from applications hosted in the virtual machine environment.

### Sun Fire V40z Server

You'll need a Sun Fire V40z server with the following options:

- □ At least one internal SCSI disk for loading the VMware ESX Server software. Given that you will likely consolidate multiple PC server applications onto the system, having at least one additional disk dedicated to storing virtual disk images is a good idea. You will format these disks as vmfs2 filesystems.
- □ Internal CD and floppy drive for installing VMware and Microsoft Windows software.

In addition to the server, for the VMware software install, you'll need a USB or PS/2 keyboard and mouse, and a VGA display connected to the server. Once the VMware software is installed, you will do all other software installation through the VMware MUI.

Have the *Sun Fire V20z and Sun Fire V40z Server Documentation and Support Files CD* 705-0971 that came with your server handy, or download the following documents from http://docs.sun.com:

Sun Fire V20z and Sun Fire V40z Servers Installation Guide, 817-5246

This document guides you through the process of rack mounting, connecting, and configuring the service processor on your server.

□ Sun Fire V20z and Sun Fire V40z Servers Release Notes, 817-5252 Always check the most recent server release notes for any issues that might affect how you install and use your server.

This article does not repeat the physical server installation and setup instructions contained in these documents, and it assumes that you have completed these tasks.

### VMware Software

You will need three software components from VMware:

### UMware ESX Server 2.5 Boot CD

You will need to obtain physical media, or download the ISO image from http://www.vmware.com and burn a boot CD. This article used ESX Server Version 2.5.2 dated September 29 2005.

### UMware P2V Boot CD

This is the CD that you will boot on the PC server in order to create a disk image for the P2V Assistant to use. Obtain physical media, or download the ISO image and burn a CD. This article used Version 2.1 dated October 20 2005. Always be sure to use the same version of P2V and the P2V Assistant software.

### UMware P2V Assistant

You can create an ISO 9660 CD with the P2V Assistant software (and the Microsoft components detailed below), or you may place the software on an FTP server on your network. You will need to install this software in the Windows NT environment that you will create on the helper machine. This article used Version 2.1 dated October 20 2005. *Always be sure to use the same version of P2V and the P2V Assistant software*.

### **VMware Documentation**

VMware's software documentation is excellent, and to some extent this article gives a cookbook synopsis of the consolidation process that you can learn in detail by reading the appropriate VMware documents. Several documents that were particularly helpful, and which are available from the VMware Web site, include:

### ESX Server 2 Installation Guide

ESX Server 2 Best Practices White Paper

This document outlines some best practices for using VMware ESX Server.

ESX Server 2 Administration Guide

This document is a good reference once you've installed ESX Server.

UVMware P2V Assistant User's Manual

This document provides details on the P2V process, and includes instructions for different Microsoft Windows operating systems.

### UMware ESX Server Virtual Infrastructure Node Evaluator's Guide

This guide, designed for those evaluating VMware software, gives a good synopsis of the benefits of the VMware software, some innovative ways to use it, and provides some step-by-step installation instructions. This article describes using the VMware console to manage virtual machines rather than VMware VirtualCenter, as described in the evaluator's guide.

□ Installing VMware Tools in the Guest Operating System

http://www.vmware.com/support/esx25/doc/admin/

esx25admin\_tools\_vms.html#999604

This knowledge base article helped debug a problem installing VMware Tools in the Microsoft Windows NT environment.

### **Microsoft Windows Software**

You will need the following Microsoft Windows software to install Windows NT in a helper machine:

#### Microsoft Windows NT boot floppy disks and installation CD

Note that you will need to have an available license key to install another instance of Windows in the helper machine.

### UWindows NT Service Pack 6a

This service pack is required by the P2V Assistant software, and is available from the Microsoft Web site, http://www.microsoft.com/downloads. Download the high-encryption option that will be used by Internet Explorer.

Microsoft Internet Explorer 6 Setup for Windows NT

The P2V Assistant software needs to have an up-to-date Web browser installed. The Microsoft Internet Explorer ("Internet Explorer") version included with Windows NT is sufficiently out-of-date that it's best to download this small program separately and load it from a CD or an FTP server. This setup program proceeds to download new Internet Explorer components from Microsoft's Web site.

VMware P2V Assistant can be used to consolidate Windows operating systems including Windows NT Server, Windows 2000, Windows XP, and Windows 2003. If you are consolidating a PC server running Windows NT Server, the P2V Assistant must run in a helper machine running the same OS. For using the P2V Assistant with other Windows operating systems, refer to "VMware P2V Assistant Helper Machine Requirements" in the VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual.

### VMware Service Console Requirements

The VMware management user interface is accessed through a Web browser interface. Operating system and browser requirements are outlined in "Remote Management Workstation Requirements" in the *ESX Server 2 Installation Guide*. The configuration described in this article was performed on a Sun Java<sup>™</sup> Workstation W1100z running the Microsoft Windows XP Professional operating system.

### Chapter 3 Install VMware ESX Server Software

This chapter describes the steps to install ESX Server on the Sun Fire V40z server to the point where virtual machines can be configured through the Web-based MUI. This set of steps assumes that you have two disks. The first disk contains the ESX Server software and a vmfs2 partition for storing virtual disks. The second disk contains nothing but a vmfs2 partition. This allows virtual disks to be spread across two spindles. If you have additional disk drives in your server, create additional vmfs2 partitions for virtual disk images. Executing the steps described in this section should take you no more than a few hours, and it's useful to have on hand the VMware *ESX Server 2 Installation Guide* as described in "VMware Documentation" on page 10.

### **Initial ESX Server Installation**

- Make sure that both Ethernet ports 0 and 1 are connected to a network and show positive link status so that the install process recognizes the physical network hardware on the server. If you plan to use a SAN to store virtual disk images, unplug the Fibre Channel connection so that the install process uses only the internal SCSI drives for the software installation.
- Power on the Sun Fire server and insert the *VMware ESX Server 2.5* boot CD. On the console, you should see the standard power-on self test followed by a screen of install options. At the boot : prompt, press the Return key to begin a standard installation.



3. The GUI installer loads, and you are presented with a Welcome screen. Press the **Next** button to continue.

4. On the Installation Type screen, choose a **Default** install, and press the **Next** button to continue.





5. Accept the terms in the license agreement, and press **Next** to continue.



- 6. When the VMware ESX Server Serial Numbers screen appears, enter your license key (or a trial key) in the VMware ESX Server field. Microsoft Windows NT Server only supports one CPU in a virtual machine, so if you plan to run only Windows NT Server virtual machines, leave the VMware Virtual SMP for ESX Server fields blank. Otherwise, enter your Virtual SMP key so that you can allocate more than one virtual CPU to other virtual machines that you may create. Press Next to continue.
- 7. The Device Allocation screen allows you to specify how physical devices are to be used by the ESX server software, including reserved memory for virtual machine configurations, network interfaces, and SCSI controllers. You'll only set the **Reserved Memory** value on this screen and accept the default for others.
  - a. Using the **Reserved Memory** pop-up menu, select the number of virtual machines to support. This number should reflect the maximum number of virtual machines that you plan to create, in this case **more than 32** is chosen. The maximum amount of reserved memory is 800 MB. *Write down the memory requirement that the pop-up menu displays, as you'll need it later on in the install process.*
  - b. Observe the first device specification, which allocates the first Broadcomm Ethernet Controller to the Service Console. You cannot change this setting.
  - c. Observe the second device specification, which allocates the built-in SCSI Storage Controller Group to Virtual Machines, as indicated by the pop-up menu. Make sure that Share with Service Console is checked.
  - d. Observe the third device specification, which allocates the second Ethernet controller to Virtual Machines, as indicated by the default setting in the pop-up menu.
  - e. Make sure that the settings are as indicated, and press **Next** to continue.

nline Help	VMware ESX Serial Numbers
Serial Numbers Please enter the ESX Server serial numbers in the VMware ESX Server entry fields.	VMvare ESX Serial Numbers VMvare ESX Server: VMvare Virbal SMP for ESX Server:
In your toplet a declared of your way were your and the set of the set of the set of the set of the Virtual SMP from ESX Server entry fields. This leaves is required grow wast to configure your virtual machines with more than one virtual processor. Entering the set of a sumber that als VM wave Virtual SMP for ESX Server.	
Choose Next II you want to proceed with this installation.	
www.t	

nine Help	Device Allocation		
Device Allocation Configure the service console. This includes reserved memory, SCS1	How would you like to se Reserved Memory (15935.0 M Av	it up your system devices? allable) 512M (more than 32 virtual mach	nes) 🛓
storage controller and Ethernet	Ethernet Controller: Broadcom Con	rporation(BCM5703 1000BaseTX	
controllers.	Dedicated To	Service Console	
Reserved Memory	Driver	bcm5700.o	
	PCI Bus Device Function	220	
reserved for the service console, 192MB, is sufficient for managing up to eight virtual machines	SCSI Storage Controller Group: m	officsilo Vitual Machines	
272 MB for up to 16 simual	Driver	matecul a	
machines, 384 MB for up to 32 virtual machines or 512 MB for more than 32 virtual machines.	MPT Fution 53C1030 (2.4)	P Shared with Service Console	
Choose 800MB for the maximum	Ethernet Controller Broadcom Co	poration(BCM5703-1000BaseTX	
	Dedicated To	Virtual Machines	10
SCSI Storage Controller Allocate storage adapters to be used by the service console and virtual machines on the server. Be sure that both the service console and the struct machines have	Driver PCI Bus:Device Function	bcm5700.0 2:3.0	

 In the Disk Partitioning Setup screen, choose Manual Partitioning and press Next to continue. You'll need to create disk partitions manually due to some issues specific to the VMware ESX Server 2.5.2 install process.

9. The Defining Disk Partitions screen shows two maps that indicate how partitions are allocated on the two 73 GB disk drives that are configured on the server. Below the set of function buttons labeled New, Edit, Delete, and Reset is a table indicating how the disk partitions are configured. The screen shot illustrates a defined set of disk partitions.

a. Click on New and familiarize yourself with the menu that is illustrated to the right. The Mount Point field will allow you to type in a mount point depending on the selection for the Filesystem Type pop-up menu directly below. You should see two Allowable Drives in the list box. This first set of instructions are for configuring device sda. Be sure that this selection is highlighted before hitting the **OK** button for this step in the instructions. The Size field allows you to specify a partition size in megabytes, and Additional Size Options allow you to create partitions that are Fixed Size, or which expand to fill up to a maximum size. Some partitions need to be primary partitions, and the Force to be a

time Help	Disk Partitioning Setup
Choosing Your Partitioning Strategy	How would you like to set up your disk partitions?      Manual Partitioning      Automatic Partitioning      Premove site partitions.
The Disk Pertitioning screen lists two choices: • Manual - this option mension creates each any casing partitions. • Antematic - allows the installer to estimate and create particles any own disk. You can edit these automatic electrons after they are created.	Remark all publicat except with initialization Drives     See SEAGATE ST373307LC 00073H27 - 20002 Mil     See SEAGATE ST373307LC 00073H27 - 20002 Mil
Automatic Partitioning If you choose outomatic, specify the automatic partitioning options: • Remove all partitions - removes all partitions on the	

ine Help	Disk Setup					
Defining Disk						
Dentitiens	Drive /dev/sda (Ge	om: 8924/255	(Model: SEAGA	TE ST373307	7LC 00073HZ	7)
Partitions	5812 10001 WD	1da10 11230 010				
Define the partitions required for		- DOG ADOFT		TF 0707000		
he ESX Server System. The	Drive meansin (Ca	10111-0324/255	(MODEL: SENGA	TE 3137330	/LC 000/3HZ	1
partitioning screen lists only the	70001 100					
mace Whether row automatically						
rinonually create nartitions the						
FSX Server system requires a						
ninimum of three partitions, as	and the second second					
the second se	allow a lot of the lot		Professional Charles	- A	Dates	
fescribed below. You can use the	144097	-E0	9. <u>D</u> pp	898.	Dater	
lescribed below. You can use the ree space to divide a fourth		Ea	·	*07.	Deser	-
lescribed below. You can use the ree space to divide a fourth artition into a mimber of logical	Device	Start End	Size (MB) Type	Mount Point	Format	
escribed below. You can use the ree space to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions.	Device Device	Start End	Size (MB) Type	Mount Point	Format	
escribed below. You can use the resepace to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions.	Device - /dev/sda - /dev/sda1	Start End	Size (MB) Type	Mount Point	Format	
escribed below. You can use the ree space to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions. late: If you do not know how to	Device Childen/sda -/dev/sda1 -/dev/sda2		Size (MB) Type 47 ext3 1796 ext3	Mount Point Aboat	Format Ves Ves	
escribed below. You can use the ree space to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions: late: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read	Device -/dev/sda -/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3	Ed Start End 1 6 7 235 236 366	Size (MB) Type 47 ext3 1796 ext3 1028 swap	Mount Point /boot /	Format Ves Ves Ves	
escribed below. You can use the every pace to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions: lobe: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read to section on partitioning in the	Device Device Device Devical -/dev/sda1 -/dev/sda2 -/dev/sda3 Dr/dev/sda3 Dr/dev/sda3	5tart End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 367 8324	Size (MB) Type 47 ext3 1796 ext3 1028 twap 67131 Extended 10000 ext3	Mount Point /bool /	Format Ves Ves Ves	
excited below. You can use the ee space to dride a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions. late: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read section on purchisming in the Movie ESX Server Installation	Device - /dev/sda - /dev/sda3 - /dev/sda3 - /dev/sda4 - /dev/sda4	<u>t</u> 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 367 1641	5ize (MB) Type 47 evd3 1796 exd3 1028 twap 67131 Extended 10001 evd3	Mount Point /bool / /vninsages	Format Ves Ves Ves	
excribed below. You can use the cost space to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions: liste: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read to exciton any partitioning in the Mawne ESX Server Installation aide.	Device -/dev/sda -/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3 D/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3 -/dev/sda3	<u>E</u> d 5tart End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 367 1641 1642 1896 1695	47 exd3 1796 exd3 1028 twap 67131 Extended 10001 exd3 2000 exd3	Aboot / /vninsages /http	Format Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	
excrited below. You can use the exercise of the a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions. Iden: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read its section on partitioning in the <i>bawwe ESS. Server Installation</i> wide.	Device deviceas devicas dev	Ed Start End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 387 1641 1842 1896 1897 2151 1872 2151	Error         Error           5ize (MB)         Type           47         evd3           1756         evd3           1028         twap           67131         Extended           10001         evd3           2000         evd3           2000         evd3	Aboat //winsages /http://winsages	Format Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	
excribed below. You can use the resupace to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions. lote: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read to section on partitioning in the <i>Advance ESCS Server Installation</i> lattle.	Elevice Elevica - /dev/sda - /dev/sda B /dev/sda - /d	Ed Start End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 367 1641 1642 1896 1697 2151 2152 2300 2152 2300	size (MB)         Type           47         ed3           1736         ed3           1028         swap           67131         Extended           10001         ed3           2000         ed3           3756         ed3	Aboot / /vninsages /http /var /home	Format Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	
excrited below. You can use the excepted below. You can use the artition into a number of logical artitions. Iden: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read to excitin on its artitioning in the advance ESX Server Installation Market of the system of artitical programmers and artitical arguments of an article of the system of use hard derive(s) allows you to	<u>I</u> gev Device ■ /dev/vlaa = /dev/dev/ = /dev/dev/dev/dev/ = /dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/ = /dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/dev/dev	Ed Start End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 387 1641 1842 1896 1897 2151 2152 2300 2301 2393 2303 2393	Size (MB)         Type           47         exd3           1736         exd3           1028         swap           67131         Extended           10001         exd3           2000         exd3           1756         exd3           10001         exd3           2000         exd3           1756         exd3           102         vmtcore           102         vmtcore	Aboot / /vnirsages /home	Format Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	
learched below. You can use the res space to divide a fourth artition into a number of logical artitions. Note: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read he section on partitioning in the Yalware EXX Server Installation ainde. The graphical representation of our hard drive(s) allows you to se how much space has been	Elevice Conversion Conversio	Ed Start End 1 6 7 235 236 386 367 8324 367 1641 1642 1896 1697 2151 2360 2361 2393 2394 8924	size (MB)         Type           47 exd3         1736 exd3           1726 exd3         1028 tweap           67131         Extended           10001 exd3         2000 exd3           2000 exd3         1736 exd3           1726 exd3         1726 exd3           1726 exd3         1726 exd3           1727 writcore         51231 writc2	Aboat / /vnirsages /hone /hone	Pormat Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	
excrited below. You can use the excepted below. You can use the artition into a number of logical artitions. Iden: If you do not know how to artition your system, please read tartition your system, please read the section any partitioning in the Mawne ESX Gener Installation ainte. In graphical representation of use hand drives(1) allows you to the how much space has been dicated to the versious partitions	<u>Idevi</u> Device	E0 Start End 1 6 7 235 236 366 367 8324 367 1641 1642 1896 1097 2151 2152 2300 2001 2333 2334 0924 1 8924	size (MB)         Type           47         exd3           1756         exd3           1226         weap           67131         Exdended           10001         exd3           2000         exd3           2000         exd3           1022         wniccore           51231         wnicc           57201         wniccore	Aboot / Averificages Anp /var /home	Format Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	

mountront	/boot	•
Filesystem Type:	ext3	\$
Allowable Drives	sda: SEAGATE S sdb: SEAGATE S	T373307LC T373307LC
	4	Þ
Size (MB):	50	\$
Additional Size Optio	ins	
Fixed size		
C Fill all space up t	to (MB): 50	1
C Fill to maximum a	llowable size	
Force to be a prim	ary partition	
☞ Force to be a prim Check for bad blog	ary partition	

primary partition check box will need to be checked. You don't need to check the Check for bad blocks check box.

b. Create new filesystem partitions on device sda by repeatedly pressing the New button and filling out the menu according to Table 1. Work from top to bottom of the table, first selecting the File System Type pop-up and then filling in additional fields from left to right. Select OK to add each partition to the table in the Defining Disk Partitions screen.

File System Type	Mount Point	Allowable Drives	Size	Additional Size Options	Force to be a Primary Partition
ext3	/boot	sda	50 MB	Fixed Size	Yes
swap	(Option is disabled)	sda	See 9c	Fixed Size	Yes
ext3	/	sda	1800	Fixed Size	Yes
vmkcore	(Option is disabled)	sda	100	Fixed Size	No
ext3	/vmimages	sda	10000	Fixed Size	No
ext3	/home	sda	1800	Fixed Size	No
ext3	/var	sda	2000	Fixed Size	No
ext3	/tmp	sda	2000	Fixed Size	No
vmfs2	(Option is disabled)	sda	(leave blank)	Fill to Maximum	No

Table 1. Recommended partitioning for disk sda.

- c. For the swap size, input a number of megabytes that is at least twice the amount of Reserved Memory you selected in step 7a.
- d. Note that these partition sizes are recommendations from the VMware documentation. The /vmimages partition can be used for large files including ISO images that can be attached to virtual CD drives, however you'll want to put virtual disks in one of the high-performance vmfs2 partitions.
- e. Once you've created the filesystems according to Table 1, create one large vmfs2 partition on the second SCSI device, sdb, according to Table 2. The size value is chosen to be larger than the formatted capacity of the disk so that **Fill to Maximum** allocates the entire disk to the partition. Format any additional drives similarly.

File System Type	Mount Point	Allowable Drives	Size	Additional Size Options	Force to be a Primary Partition
vmfs2	(option is disabled)	sdb	73000	Fill to Maximum	Yes

Table 2. Recommended partitioning for disk sdb.

f. Double check to see that the partition table looks as shown at right, and press **Next**.

Device	Start	End	Size (MB)	Туре	Mount Point	Format
/dev/sda		112	211228-16			DISTRICT
-/dev/sda1	1	6	47	ext3	/boot	Yes
-/dev/sda2	7	235	1796	ext3	1	Yes
-/dev/sda3	236	366	1028	swap		Yes
₫/dev/sda4	367	8924	67131	Extended		
-/dev/sda5	367	1641	10001	ext3	/ymimages	Yes
-/dev/sda6	1642	1896	2000	ext3	/tmp	Yes
-/dev/sda7	1897	2151	2000	ext3	/var	Yes
-/dev/sda8	2152	2380	1796	ext3	/home	Yes
-/dev/sda9	2381	2393	102	vmkcore		Yes
L/dev/sda10	2394	8924	51231	vmfs2		Yes
L/dev/sdb1	1	8924	70002	umfs2		No

10. The Network Configuration screen allows you to give an IP address for the VMware service console, which supports the management user interface. Choose **Static IP** addressing and fill in the address fields. Use a fully-qualified domain name for the host name. Select **Next** to continue.

11. The Time Zone Selection screen appears; select your time zone and press **Next**.





- 12. Select a password for the privileged root user in the Account Configuration screen, and select Add to create at least one user account. The screen shot illustrates the Add User dialog. Press Next.
- 13. When the About to Install screen appears, select **Next** to begin the installation.

14. The installer will format the disk and install software packages.

nué rejp	Account Configurate	on		
Account Configuration Note: Setting up a root account	Enter the p Root Password Confirm	assword for the root user (a	idministrator) of this system	
and password is one of the most important steps during your initialization. Your root account enables you thave full access and cantrol over your system. Use the root account she's for administration. Create a num-root account for your general use and as a to gain root access when secessary. Enter a password for the root account. The password must be at east ac characters in length. Cadetim the password in the leacend entry field. Next, create a user account.	Add a New User User Name Full Name Full Name Confern User pass	gaade Stave Gaede Stave Gaede word accepted	for ribpy users of the Jonal log account, Seed to use the Bonal user	Add Enti Detete

Installing ESX Server We have gathered all the information preded to install	Installing Packages Package emaci-20.7-41 Size 23,749 KBytes Summary: The libraries ne Package Progress Total Progress	eded to run the GNU Ems	cs lavd editor.	
nformation needed to install VMware RSX Server on your	Status	Packages	Size	Tim
Vinves Case de la vijour system. It may dels acercal minutes to complete the installation.	Total Completed Remaining	190 82 100	767 M 272 M 495 M	0.02.4 0.00.5 0.01.4
	VMware is		cture	

15. The Congratulations screen will appear; select Next to reboot the system. Remove the install CD from the server's optical drive. The next set of steps configure the installation through the Web-based MUI.



### **Initial Configuration**

Now that ESX Server is installed on the Sun Fire V40z server, you can connect to the MUI through a Web browser and perform initial configuration tasks. This set of steps, and the corresponding screen shots, were accomplished using Internet Explorer on a Sun Java Workstation W1100z running Windows XP.

- Direct your Internet Explorer Web browser to the service console address you set up in Step 10 in the previous section. For example, the address assigned in the previous section would generate the URL: http://v40eth.loneagle.com.
- 2. The ESX Server installation process generated a self-signed SSL certificate in order to secure communication between the server and the Web browser that displays the management user interface. You will be presented with a certificate to approve; when asked: **Do you want to proceed?**, click on **Yes.**
- 3. Your Web browser will be re-directed to the SSL port 443, and you will be presented with a login screen. Log in as root using the password you set during installation.
- 4. The ESX Server management user interface appears once you have logged in. This is the mechanism through which you will configure the server, create, and monitor virtual machines. The interface consists of three main tabs, the Status Monitor, Memory, and Options. Most configuration options are available through the Options tab.

Note the two warnings at the top of the browser window. The next several steps will eliminate these warnings by creating and activating a swap file, and by creating a virtual switch.

Now click on the Options tab.

🗿 v40eth. loneagle	com: VMware Management Interface - Microsoft Intern	et Expl 📒	
<u>File Edit View F</u>	avorites Tools Help		
Address 🥘 https://v4	)eth.loneagle.com/vmware/en/	💌 🔁 Go	Links *
Protected by one VMware, the VM	Copyright © 1998-2005 VMware, Inc. All rights reserved. 6 or more of U.S. Patent Nos. 6, 397, 242, 6, 496, 847, 6, 704, 5 6 or sore of U.S. Patent Nos. 6, 397, 242, 6, 496, 847, 6, 704, 5 6, 727,848 and 6, 735, 6021; patents pending. ware "boxes" logo, GSX Server, ESX Server, Virtual SMP at trademarks of VMware, Inc.	925, 6,711,67 nd VMotion ar	2, re
			-
Active	🔒 🙂	Internet	

🗿 v40eth. loneagle.com	n: VMware Management	Interface - Microso	ft Internet Explorer 🔳 🗖	×
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorit	es <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		<b>A</b>	7
Address 🕘 https://v40eth.l	loneagle.com/vmware/en/		So Links	*
🗐 VMware ESX Serve	r 2.5.2 build-16390   re	oot@v40eth.loneagle.	.com	
Status Monitor Mem	ory Options			t
Last updated Tue Jan 3	17:57:32 PST 2006			^
🔺 Warning: No swap :	space is configured or no	ne is active. Reconfig	jure	
A Managinan Marinahari	1	Description		
warning: No virtual	i ethernet switches tound.	. Reconfigure		
System Summary			5 Minute Average	
Processor Cores (4)		Memory (15.5 G)		
Virtual Machines	0 %	Virtual Machines		
System Services	0%	System Services	697.6 M	
System rotai	U %	System Total	697.0 M	
Virtual Machines (0)				
No virtual machines are registered with this system. Click Add Virtual Machine to create one.				
Download VMware Remote Console: Windows (exe)   Linux (rpm)   add Virtual Machine				
Copyright © 1998-2005 VMware, Inc. All rights reserved. Protected by one or more of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,397,242, 6,496,847, 6,704,925, 6,711,672, 6,725,289 and 6,735,001 patents pending.				
trademarks of VMware,	Inc.	Low Server, Virtual e		~
🙆 Active			🔒 🥑 Internet	:

5. Take a minute to peruse the settings available through the Options tab. You'll create a swap file in the vmfs2 partition on the sda disk, but first you need to label the disks. Click on the Storage Management selection.



6. The Storage Management display shows all of the disk partitions that you created during the initial install. For each of the vmfs2 partitions, one on the disk sda, and one on the disk sdb, click on the Edit... selection for each, and give a name for each volume. The names given in this example, and illustrated in the screen shot, are vmfs-sda and vmfs-sdb. Select Close to close the window.

isks and LUNs Failover Paths	Adapter Bindings	Refresh   Rescan SAN   Help   Close
Create and modify VMFS volum	and LUN Configura nes suitable for storir	ition ig virtual disk files.
Dick umbb>0.0.0. (00% of 68 26 0	° âusilable)	
Disk viilindau.u.u. (0% 01 00.30 0	s Available)	
1. Linux native Volume		Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	47.00 M	
2. Linux native Volume		Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	1.75 G	
3. Linux swap Volume		Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	1.00 G	
4. Extended Partition		Remove
5. Logical Linux native Volume		Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	9.77 G	
6 Logical Linux native Volume		Demove   Format as VMES-2
Canacity	1.95 G	Remotent Promacas third 2nd
7. Locio I Comontino Universi	1.000	
7. Logical Linux native volume	1.95.0	Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	1.55 G	
8. Logical Linux native Volume		Remove   Format as VMFS-2
Capacity	1.75 G	
9. Logical ¥Mware Core Dump		Remove
Capacity	101.00 M	
10. vmfs-sda (Logical VMFS-2.11	l Volume)	Edit
Capacity	50.03 G	
Maximum File Size	456.00 G	
Access Mode	Public	
Disk vmhba0:1:0: (0% of 68.36 0	G Available)	
1. umfs-sdb (VMES-2-11 Volume)	)	Edit
Canacity	/ 68.36 G	Latur
Maximum File Size	456.00 G	
Access Mode	Public	
		A Tatamat

🗿 https://v40eth.loneagle.com - v40eth.loneagle.com: Storage Management - M... 🔳 🔲 🔀

7. Go back to the MUI window and Click on Status Monitor tab so that the swap space and network switch warnings are visible. Click on Reconfigure... next to the swap space warning. A window will appear showing the server's swap configuration. Click on Create... to create a new swap file. Choose the vmfssda volume, accept the other defaults, and click Activate to activate the swap file without having to reboot. Click OK

8. Back in the MUI, click on Reconfigure ... next to the No virtual ethernet switches found warning. A page will appear that explains virtual switching. Click on the bottom of the page where it says: To create a virtual ethernet switch, click here. Create a switch by filling in the Network Label field with ExternalSwitch, and check the Outbound Adapter 0 check box to connect the virtual switch to Ethernet port 1 of the Sun Fire V40z server. Click Create Switch. Once the switch is created, click Close on the Network Connections window. Note that the MUI now shows no warnings when the Status Monitor tab is selected. You can add more virtual switches at any time. You can create internal switches not bound to any adapter, allowing virtual machines to communicate without using external networks. You can also bind switches to the server's external port or ports, if additional interfaces are installed.



🗿 https://v40eth.loneagle.com - v40eth.lonea	igle.com: Network Connections 🔳 🗖 🗙
🐵 ¥Mware ESX Server 2.5.2 build-16390   n	oot@v40eth.loneagle.com
Virtual Switches Physical Adapters	Refresh   Help   Close
Network Connections: Create Virtual Configure your new virtual ethernet swite	I Switch. ch and its adapters.
New Configuration	·
Properties	
Network Label	ExternalSwitch
Bind Network Adapters	
Outbound Adapter 0	100 Mbps, full duplex
Other Network Adapters	
None Available	
	5
	Create Switch Cancel
<u>a</u>	🔒 🥑 Internet

9. You'll need to set ESX Server security settings to Low so that you can transfer files to and from the server for the P2V process. Click on the Options tab, and click on Security Settings... on that page. Select the Low security radio button, and click OK. You will be warned that your security settings have changed, and you will need to log in to the interface again.

When you log in again, you may note that the management session is no longer encrypted. Once you've completed the consolidation process, be sure to change the security level depending on your IT organization's policies.

- 10. The VMware Remote Console allows vou to manage virtual machines and access their console. It can be downloaded as a Windows . exe file, or if you are managing ESX Server using a Linux workstation, you can download a Linux rpm or tar file. Click on the Download VMware Remote Console choice for your platform (Windows, in this example), and accept the security warnings to allow the software to be downloaded from the ESX server and run on your workstation.
- 11. You will be presented with an installer Wizard window. Proceed through the default installation steps, including accepting the license agreement, allowing the default installation location, and clicking on Install to begin the installation. After you select Finish to complete the installation, you'll notice the VMware Remote Console icon on your desktop.

This completes the ESX Server installation and initial configuration.



Sun	Microsystems,	Inc.

VMware ESX Server 2.5.2	build-16390   root@v40eth.lor	neagle.com	
Status Monitor Memory	Options		
Last updated Tue Jan 3 18:26:	54 PST 2006		
System Summary			5 Minute Average
Processor Cores (4)		Memory (15.5 G)	
Virtual Machines	0 %	Virtual Machines	0 0000000000000000000000000000000000000
System Services	1 %	System Services	697.6 M
System Total	1 %	System Total	697.6 M
Virtual Machines (0)			
No virtual machin	es are registered with this s	ystem. Click Add Virtual	Machine to create one.
Download WMware Remote Cor	schle: Windows (eye) It inuy (ro	m) Linux (tar.oz)	add Virtual Machine
Jownioad vieware Kentole Col	istie: windows (exe) ficinitia (rp	(iii)   Liliax ((a).gz)	and firtual Placinite
Copyright © 1998-2005 VMwar	e, Inc. All rights reserved.		
	S. Parent Nos. 6.397.747. 6.496.	,047,0,704,920,0,711,072,	6,725,269 and 6,735,601; patents





# Chapter 4 Create Helper Machine for P2V Assistant

VMware P2V Assistant software receives the disk image over the network from the physical server to be consolidated, and it creates a clone of its disk in a virtual disk image on ESX Server. If you are consolidating a Windows NT Server application onto the Sun Fire V40z server, the helper machine must run the Windows NT Server OS as well. (Helper machine requirements for other Windows operating systems are detailed in the *VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual*). The helper machine can be used to consolidate as many Windows NT Server applications as you wish.

1. Click the Add Virtual Machine button in the management user interface



- 2. In the Add Virtual Machine dialog that appears, select **Microsoft Windows NT** as the Guest Operating System, and give it a display name that you will remember. This example uses the name NTHelperMachine. Accept the default location, and click **Next** to continue.
- The next dialog allows you to allocate memory to the helper machine. Because the helper machine only runs when you are performing a consolidation, there's no reason to limit the amount of memory. This example sets the memory to 512 MB. Leave the Citrix Terminal Services check box unchecked. Click Next to continue.



🗿 http://v40eth.loneagle.com - v40eth.loneagle.com: Add Virtual Machine 🔳 🗖 🗙
Window Esx Server 2.5.2 build-16390   root@v40eth.loneagle.com
Add Yirtual Machine NTHelperMachine
Virtual Machine Configuration
Processors
Your license only permits virtual machines to be configured with a single processor.
Memory
Suggested: 256 M Guest Min: 64 M Runnable Max: 3600 M (1P), 3600 M (2P)
Memory (in multiples of 4)
Workloads
Citrix Terminal Services
Help Cancel
🕘 Done 🥥 Internet 🛒

machine.

- 4. The next dialog asks whether to create a new virtual disk or use an existing disk. Since you'll be installing the Windows NT Server OS on the helper machine, click on Blank to create a new virtual disk.
- 5. The Virtual Disk dialog allows you to edit the virtual disk configuration. Choose the vmfs-sdb volume to put this virtual disk on the second drive in your Sun Fire V40z server. Choose an image file name such as NTHelperMachine.vmdk as used in this example. You won't need a large disk, so reduce the size to 2000 MB. Leave the Disk Mode radio button set at Persistent. Select Next to continue.



Add Device...

Disk Mode

🔘 Append

Help

Done

Persistent

O Nonpersistent 🔿 Undoable



Changes are immediately and permanently written to the virtual disk.

Changes are saved, discarded or appended at your discretion. Changes are appended to a redo log when the virtual machine powers off.

≪ Back Next > Cancel

Internet

Edit.

Edit...

Edit...

Internet

Changes are discarded when the virtual machine powers off.

🗿 http://v40eth.loneagle.com - v40eth.loneagle.com: NTHelperMachine | C... 🔲 🗖 🔀

YMware ESX Server 2.5.2 build-16390 | root@v40eth.loneagle.c

Done

- 7. You'll need to boot the Windows NT installation floppy disks, so configure the floppy drive to connect to the virtual machine when it is powered on. Select Edit... next to the Floppy Drive description, check the Connect at Power On check box, and click OK. Note that the DVD/CD-ROM drive is already configured to connect at power on. If it is not, change its configuration as you did with the floppy drive.
- 8. Note that the Network Adapter will connect at power on to the virtual switch that you created in the last chapter. The virtual device emulates the Lance Ethernet chipset that was popular when Windows NT was the current operating system. This allows the operating system to manipulate a familiar device despite the fact that the physical hardware uses a Broadcomm Ethernet chipset.

Now that you've successfully created the helper machine, you'll need to install Microsoft Windows NT on the new virtual machine, the topic of the next chapter.

Floppy Drive A virtual machine may access a	system drive or a floppy image file.
Edit Floppy Drive Configuration	
Device Status	
Connected	
Connect at Power On	
Device Connection	$\smile$
Device	System Floppy Drive 🗸
Location	/dev/fd0

# Chapter 5 Install Software on the Helper Machine

This chapter describes the steps for installing the Windows NT Server OS, Service Pack 6a, a current version of Internet Explorer, and VMware P2V Assistant in the helper machine. The instructions are fairly lengthy, as with any full operating system install. Since this article is written for administrators already running Windows NT Server, these instructions are not illustrated with as many screen shots as the previous chapter. This should not be an issue, because the Windows NT Server install process works in the virtual machine environment exactly as it does on a physical server.

Note that all of the software installation instructions in this chapter refer to actions that you will take in the Remote Console window, where you will see the console of your helper machine. When instructions call for configuring display parameters, for example, they are referring to the settings within the OS running on the virtual machine — not to the settings on the workstation on which you are running the VMware management user interface.

### **Initial Windows NT Installation**

- 1. Insert the first of the Windows NT install floppy disks into the floppy drive of your Sun Fire V40z server.
- 2. The top bar of the NTHelperMachine control panel shows a Windows icon, a pop-up menu icon, a red square power button, and the name of the machine. Click on the pop-up menu icon and select **Attach Remote Console....** This brings up the VMware Remote Console that you downloaded from the ESX server during the initial installation.
- 3. The Remote Console window will ask you to log in. Log in as user root.



e <u>P</u> ower <u>S</u> ettings <u>D</u> evices <u>V</u> iew <u>H</u> elp	
🛿 Power Off 👻 🕞 Power On 🛛 🔛 Suspend 👻 🧐 Reset 👻 🛅 Detach and Exit	
/Mware ESX Server: v40eth.loneagle.com	remote consol
lindows NT Setup	
Setup is loading files (Windows NT Executive)	
VMware Tools is not running. Click on this text to install.	



Connect	to VMware Server	
<u>S</u> erver:	v40eth.loneagle.com 902 /root/	/mware/winNT/winNT.vmx 💌
<u>U</u> ser:	root	Connect
<u>P</u> assword	- XXXXXX	Cancel

Consolidating Legacy Applications onto Sun x64 Servers - February 2006

5. When Windows NT Server Setup asks you to load the second floppy disk, you'll need to click into the Remote Console window to put the focus there, and once you've inserted the second floppy, you'll press Return to continue.

You'll notice some unexpected behavior from the mouse on your workstation. Once you click in the Remote Console window, the window "owns" the mouse and does not release it until you press Ctrl-Alt. Because no GUI is running in the Remote Console window yet, there is no software to display your mouse, so your workstation screen will look as if you have no mouse pointer. Once you press Ctrl-Alt, your mouse is free to use in other windows. This behavior can be confusing during the initial setup procedures; once a GUI is running, the mouse will appear to be trapped in the Remote Console window, prompting you to press Ctrl-Alt to release it.



- 6. The installation procedure that follows is exactly the same as if you were installing Windows NT Server software on a physical server. Because this Sun BluePrints article is targeted to those already running Windows NT Server, the install procedure is not presented in as much detail here. You will proceed through the following steps:
  - a. Continue to allow Setup to detect mass storage devices in the virtual machine.
  - b. Insert floppy disk #3 and press Enter.
  - c. Note that during device discovery, Windows NT Setup will discover the legacy devices that ESX server emulates and presents to the virtual machine configured to run Windows NT. This is one of the ways in which Windows NT environments running ESX Server allows using up-to-date hardware to support legacy operating systems and applications.
  - d. Accept the virtual devices discovered and press Enter to continue.
  - e. Press C to allow Setup to configure the new virtual disk that it has discovered.
  - f. When prompted, insert the Windows NT Server CD into the server's DVD/CD drive and press Enter. If Setup does not discover a CD drive, refer to the virtual machine's control panel and select Edit... next to DVD/CD ROM Drive to configure it as Connected.
  - g. View and accept the Windows NT Server license. Be sure that you have a valid license and license key to present to the installer when the time comes. Press **F8** to accept.
  - h. Accept the list of hardware devices that Setup asks you to approve.
  - i. Press Enter to install the operating system on the 2000 MB disk drive that is currently unpartitioned space.
  - j. Format the partition using the NTFS filesystem.
  - k. Accept the default install location.
  - I. You can press ESC to skip the exhaustive disk checking, as disk integrity is handled by ESX Server.

- m. When prompted, remove the floppy disk and CD from the server, and press **Enter** to reboot the virtual machine.
- n. Once the GUI Windows NT Setup begins, you'll be prompted to re-insert the install CD. Insert the CD and click **OK**.
- Proceed through the Windows NT Setup prompts to give it a host name, Stand-Alone Server server type, administrator account, Emergency Disk (if desired), and additional components to install (accept the defaults).
- p. For the Networking Setup, accept the default wired network, and un-check the Install Microsoft Internet Information Server option.
- q. Click **Begin Search** to locate available network adapters, accept the **AMD PCNET Family Ethernet Adapter** that Setup discovers, and specify the **TCP/IP** protocol option.
- r. Accept the network services for installation, accept the Ethernet adapter configuration defaults, and select **No** when it asks to set up the server using DHCP.
- s. Configure an IP address in the TCP/IP Properties panel that is displayed.

- t. Click on the **DNS** tab. Add the domain name for the helper machine, configure a name server, and click **Apply**, then **OK**.
- u. Accept default bindings and select **Next** to start the network. Allow the server to be part of a workgroup, and click **Finish** to complete the installation.
- v. Select your time zone (note that the time is already set by the ESX Server's clock).
- w. Accept the display type discovered.
- x. Once the virtual machine has rebooted, you'll see the familiar login prompt. The Ctrl-Alt-Del key sequence is interpreted by both the workstation on which you are running the MUI, and the virtual machine's Remote Console. In order to avoid confusion, always use Ctrl-Alt-Insert to log in to a Windows OS running in a Remote Console.

Microsoft TCP/IP Properties	×			
IP Address DNS WINS Address DHCP Relay Routing				
An IP address can be automatically assigned to this network card by a DHCP server. If your network does not have a DHCP server, ask your network administrator for an address, and then type it in the space below.				
Adapter:	ł			
[1] AMD PCNET PCI Ethernet Adapter	ł			
C Dbtain an IP address from a DHCP server				
ID Address	ł			
IP Address: 192 .207 .20 .61	ł			
Subnet Mask: 255 .255 .192	ł			
Default <u>G</u> ateway: 192 .207 .20 .1	ł			
	ł			
Advanced				
OK Cancel Apply	1			



### **Install Service Pack 6a**

Update your Windows NT Server environment with Service Pack 6a, high-encryption option. Because of the old version of Internet Explorer that is installed with the operating system, the best approach is to download the service pack from a different workstation and then transfer it to the virtual machine using FTP from the Command Prompt, or burning the sp6i386.exe executable onto an ISO 9660 CD that you can insert in the server's CD drive.

- 1. Double-click on the sp61386.exe icon to install the service pack.
- 2. Accept the licensing agreement
- 3. When the installation is complete, press Restart to reboot the virtual machine.

### Install VMware Tools

Once you've installed Service Pack 6a, you can install the VMware Tools.

- 1. Log in to the virtual machine's console as Administrator.
- Eject any CDs from the server's drive. The VMware Tools installation works by attaching an ISO image to your virtual CD drive.
- 3. Press **Ctrl-Alt** to free the mouse from the Remote Console.
- Observe that the VMware Tools is not running warning appears at the bottom of the Remote Console window. Click on the text to install, or make the corresponding selection from the menu bar.
- If the installation does not proceed automatically, or without error, open My Computer and double click on the VMware Tools icon in the My Computer window to begin the installation.





- 6. The VMware Tools installation wizard will appear. Proceed through the installation, selecting **Typical Installation**.
- 7. Install the HTML help engine
- 8. Select **OK** regarding the SVGA driver installation failing.
- 9. Click Finish.
- 10. Select **No** when the install process asks to restart the virtual machine.
- 11. Follow the instructions for configuring the SVGA driver that appear in a Notepad window.
- 12. Once you've rebooted (according to the instructions), log in and you will receive a warning that a new display adapter has been installed. Change the color settings as you wish, and click Apply. Then click OK to exit the Display Properties control panel item.

🖗 NTHelperMachine - v40eth.loneagle.	.com VMware ESX Server - VMware Remote Console	
Eile Power Settings Devices View Help		
Power Off 🔹 👂 Power On 🚺 Suspend	i 🔹 🇐 Reset 👻 🚺 Detach and Exit	
VMware ESX Server: v40eth.loneagle	.com remote co	onsole
My Computer Revealed Weare Tools	×	
	Welcome to the installation wizard for VMware Tools	
Network Neighborhood	The installation wizard will install VM ware Tools on your computer. To continue, click Next.	
Inbox	WARNING: This program is protected by copyright law and international treates.	
Explorer		
<b>.</b>	< Back Next> Cancel	
Information		
😹 Start 🗐 My Computer	VMware Tools	5:38 PM
		2 🖬 🗗

### Install Internet Explorer 6

VMware P2V Assistant software needs a recent version of Internet Explorer to run. If you have burned a CD containing Internet Explorer, insert it into the server's console now. Otherwise, transfer it to the helper machine using FTP or file sharing.

- 1. Double-click on the ie6setup.exe file to begin the installation.
- 2. Accept the licensing agreement.
- 3. Select the Typical set of components radio button option.
- 4. The installer will download the components that it requires.
- 5. Selecting **Finish** at the end of the install process will reboot the virtual machine.
- Log in to the helper machine and proceed through the Internet Setup wizard, selecting options appropriate for your local-area network.
- 7. Verify that the browser works properly. If you experience network problems, confirm on the VMware control panel for the **NTHelperMachine** that the network adapter is connected to the virtual machine.



### Install VMware P2V Assistant

Now you have an up-to-date Windows NT Server environment in which to install the P2V Assistant. Insert a CD, if you have created one, or transfer the file to the helper machine through another mechanism. The installation process is straightforward, and is described in detail in the *VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual*. The process is summarized here.

- Double click on the VMware-P2V executable file to begin the installation. The version used in this article was 2.1.0. Remember to use only matching versions of the P2V Assistant and the P2V Boot CD. The install wizard will appear; click Next to continue.
- 2. Accept the licensing agreement, click Next.
- 3. Enter customer information, click Next.
- 4. Perform a Complete install, click Next.
- 5. Click Install to begin the install.
- 6. Click Finish.
- 7. Note the VMware P2V Assistant 2.1 icon that appears on your desktop.



### **Manage Files**

Now that you have a helper machine ready to assist in the consolidation process, you might wish to make a backup of the machine. With ESX Server, the entire drive contents are stored in a single file that you can copy or backup as you wish. When you manipulate virtual disk files, be sure that the virtual machines using them are powered down so that you have a consistent disk image to work with.

- Click on the Manage Files... text in the VMware management user interface to bring up a simple file browser.
- Click on the vmfs folder in the folders display on the left, and you will see the vmfs-sda and the vmfs-sdb volumes that you created for storing virtual disk images. The vmfs filesystem is optimized for performance, and is structured as a single flat folder.
- Click on the vmfs-sdb folder in the folders display to reveal the list of virtual disk images that you have created. You should see a file named NTHelperMachine.vmdk.



- 4. The file browser uses a simple copy/paste paradigm for managing files. Click on the check box associated with the file, select **Copy**, and then select **Paste** to create a copy of the virtual disk.
- 5. Select Edit Properties... to change the file name.

### **Shutting Down**

If and when you wish to shut down your Sun Fire V40z server, be sure that you first shut down the operating system in each virtual machine that you have running. You can access each Remote Console through the Status Monitor tab of the MUI. Once you shut down an operating system, you can power off the virtual machine through the Status Monitor display or through the Remote Console. You will find Shut Down... through the Options tab in the MUI. Once ESX Server is shut down, you can power off the physical server.

# Chapter 6 Consolidate the Physical Server into a Virtual Machine Environment

The previous chapters described how to install the ESX Server software and how to prepare the helper machine with the VMware P2V Assistant. This is the fun chapter, because you will get to see the results of all the preparation work that you've done.

This chapter guides you through the process of bringing up the source server with the P2V Boot CD, cloning the source disk in the helper machine using the P2V Assistant software, creating the new virtual machine that will run the cloned disk, and making final configuration adjustments. You can repeat the instructions in this chapter as many times as you like in order to consolidate as many applications into the virtual environment as you wish. In the case of consolidating an Apache Web server running on the Microsoft Windows NT Server OS, the application ran with no changes or adjustments whatsoever.

### Boot the Source Server With the P2V Boot CD

The 2.1 version of the P2V Boot CD used in these instructions is based on the Knoppix 3.8.1 distribution, which adapts to a wide variety of x86-architecture hardware devices. The server used for this article was configured with a D-Link Ethernet adapter, one that was not on VMware's list of supported devices — yet the P2V book disk simply worked.

The best approach is to first try the P2V process using the P2V Boot CD. If you find that it does not work, you can follow instructions for using third-party disk imaging tools like Symantec Ghost in the *VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual*. These instructions assume that the P2V Boot CD works for you.

- 1. Boot the source server from the P2V Boot CD.
- 2. When the boot process is complete, the environment will be a Linux user interface in which the README for VMware P2V Boot CD is displayed in one window, and the P2V Assistant Boot CD Wizard is displayed in a second window, as illustrated below. The instructions will direct you to use a rudimentary user interface in the Wizard window in which the Tab key takes you from item to item, and the Space bar makes a selection.



3. Select **OK** to the welcome message. Progress through the various notifications until you are presented with the disk and network devices that P2V discovers.

- 4. The Disk and Network Devices screen shows the disk drives and the network devices that the P2V Boot CD discovers. The server illustrated has a single disk, and a single network device. If your disk and a network device appears in this window, P2V will probably work with your hardware, whether it is on the compatibility list or not.
- Write down the size of the disk that is detected so that you can create a virtual disk the same size in ESX server later. If you have multiple disks, you will need to create multiple virtual disks in ESX server and clone each one individually.
- 6. Select **No** to the request to load Fibre Channel devices, assuming that your server has none.





- Select No at the request to use DHCP and instead manually enter a temporary IP address for the P2V process. It can reduce confusion if you use an IP address different than the original IP address of the server.
- The network settings that you have chosen will appear in a confirmation screen, which is also the only confirmation you'll see that the P2V Boot CD software is running and is ready to communicate with the P2V Assistant software in the helper machine.

### **Clone the Source Disk**

This set of instructions describe how to use the P2V Assistant to clone the source disk into the virtual machine environment.

 The first step is to power down the helper machine so that you can create and attach a new virtual disk to the virtual machine. This disk will contain an image from the source server's physical drive. From the Windows Start menu, shut down the helper machine. When IT is now safe to turn off your computer appears, click the Power Off button in the helper machine's Remote Console menu bar; confirm the power off at the prompt.



🖻 NTHelperMachine - v40eth.loneagle.com VMware ESX Server - VMware Remote Console 🛛 🔲 🗖 🔀

er Settings Devices View Help





2. At the bottom of the

NTHelperMachine control panel, click on Add Device. If the control panel is not running, click on the NTHelperMachine text in the main MUI screen under the Status Monitor tab.



3. The Add Device screen presents the types of devices that you can create, select **Hard Disk**.

4. Select Blank to create a new virtual disk.



- 5. Select an image file location. In this example the file will be stored on the vmfs-sdb filesystem. Enter a file name. Since this example clones the hard drive of a Web server. the name WebServerClone was entered. Enter the size of the disk in the Capacity field. If you wish to make the cloned disk exactly the same size as the source disk, enter the value that you wrote down in Step 5 in "Boot the Source Server With the P2V Boot CD" above. The disk image that the P2V Assistant creates is not a true block-by-block image. The software actually copies the contents of the disk, so you can make the virtual disk larger, to allow for future expansion, or you can make it smaller, to eliminate space you don't plan to use. This set of instructions clones the disk using the exact size determined by the P2V Boot CD. Click **OK** to create the new virtual disk. Note that the new virtual disk appears when you return to the NTHelperMachine control panel.
- 6. Now click the **Power On** button in the helper machine's Remote Console and log in to Windows.
- Double-click on the P2V Assistant icon to run the software.



- You will see a warning that you have no P2V system reconfigurations left on your license. Click OK to continue.
- 9. Select the second radio button to clone the source computer's physical disk and perform a reconfiguration.





- Click Version and License Info... to display the current license information. You will have to move the P2V Version and License Info window up in your display to reveal the Enter New Serial Number button.
- 11. When your serial number has been accepted, move the P2V Assistant window up as far as possible in the Remote Console to reveal the **Cancel**, **Back**, **Next**, and **Finish** buttons. Click **Next**.
- 12. Note the warning that the P2V Boot CD is supported on a limited amount of hardware.
- 13. Enter the IP address that you assigned to the physical PC running the P2V Boot CD. Note that the two P2V components will communicate over port 7000. Click **Next**.
- 14. The P2V Assistant displays the physical disks that the P2V Boot CD has identified on the physical server. In this example, it has discovered a Maxstor IDE drive with 19881 MB of storage. Click on the disk to select it and click Next.
- 15. Now the P2V Assistant determines and displays the physical disk's partitioning information. Click **Next**.
- 16. Choose the second radio button to clone the disk and reconfigure the system files on the disk. Note that you only need to make this selection when you clone a boot disk, as the reconfiguration step makes the virtual disk bootable by a virtual machine. Click **Next**.
- 17. Accept the default disk cloning options on the next screen, and click **Next**.
- 18. At the Select a target disk prompt, select the first radio button. This will have the P2V Assistant put the source disk's data into the new virtual disk that you directly connected to the helper machine. You will not need to resize disk partitions if you have chosen a target disk size the same as the source disk size. Refer to the VMware P2V Assistant User's Manual for detailed instructions on disk partitioning if you wish to change partition sizes. Press the Select button to choose the disk.
- 19. Choose **Disk 1**, the disk that you just created. Click **OK**, then press **Next** to continue to the next screen.

Disk number	Size in MB	Device name	Bus Type	Model name
0	19881	/dev/hda	IDE	Maxtor 2F020L0

Disk Volume and Operating System Information					
Pos	Label	Size in MB	File System	Operating System	
1		4094	NTFS	Windows NT 4.0 SP6	
2	WEB_DATA	15782	NTFS		

Primary Operating System Detected
Windows NT 4.0 SP6
Do you want to perform a System Reconfiguration after cloning the disk?
C No, just clone the disk without modifications (with the option of reconfiguring it later)
Yes, clone the disk, then reconfigure system files in the target disk



🖷 Disk Device Selector	_ 🗆 ×	
The following eligible dis the one you would like to	sk devices were found. Select i use as the target disk.	
C Disk number 0.(Capacity = 2000 M8)		
	OK	

20. Select the target VMware product by selecting the radio button for VMware ESX Server 2.5. Check both System Reconfiguration options, and click **Next**.



Copying files from volume 1 (FileSystem=NTFS) MB Copied=327 Remaining=311 Rate=1657 KB/sec Time Elapsed=00:03:45 Remaining=00:03:12

Cancel

🛋 Operation in progress

- 21. Click Next to begin the cloning process; a status bar appears. In this example, the source disk has two partitions, so two separate cloning operations (and status bars) will automatically execute. Note that the status bar does not update unless the focus is in the Remote Console window. Don't be fooled by an apparent lack of progress.
- 22. The system reconfiguration automatically takes place; select **Finish** to complete the cloning operation.
- 23. From the Windows **Start** menu, shut down the helper machine's operating system, then power off the virtual machine from the Remote Console window.



\_ 🗆 ×

### **Configure the Consolidated Virtual Machine**

Now that you have a cloned disk that has been reconfigured to run in the virtual machine environment, now create a new virtual machine to run the cloned disk, and perform some final configuration tasks.

- 1. With the helper machine powered off, select **Remove...** from the NTHelperMachine control panel's **Hardware** tab, and detach the WebServerClone virtual disk from that virtual machine.
- 2. From the main management user interface, click the **Add Virtual Machine** button to create the virtual machine from which you will run the cloned disk.
- 3. In the Add Virtual Machine screen, select Microsoft Windows NT as the guest operating system, and choose a name for your virtual machine. This example gives the display name WebServerClone. Choose a similarly-named file for the machine's configuration information file. Press Next.
- 4. Choose the amount of memory to allocate to the virtual machine and click **Next**.
- 5. The Virtual Disk window appears, select **Existing** to attach the cloned disk to this virtual machine.
- 6. Select the WebServerClone.vmdk file and click Next.
- 7. The control panel for this new virtual machine appears. Select **Attach Remote Console** from the pulldown menu next to the power button, and power on the virtual machine.
- 8. Log into the Windows NT Server system using an administrator account.
- 9. You will be greeted with a warning that your display resolution is invalid. Click OK. In the Display Properties control panel that is displayed, click the Test button. The display test screen will appear just as it does with a physical machine. Answer Yes to the prompt and OK to close the control panel item. Restart the Windows OS and log in using an administrator account again.
- 10. Now you will need to change the network device driver to use the AMD PCNet Family adapter provided by the Windows NT virtual machine. This assumes that you have accepted the default vlance network adapter in the virtual machine's control panel.

http://v40eth.loneagle.co	pm - v40eth.loneagle.com: Add Virtual Machine 🗖 🗖
🗊 VMware ESX Server 2.5	.2 build-16390   root@v40eth.loneagle.com
Add Virtual Machin WebServerClone	e
Virtual Machine Configura	ation
Standard Options	
Guest Operating System	Microsoft Windows NT
Display Name	WebServerClone
Location	<pre>//root/vmware/winNT/WebServerClone.vmx &gt;</pre>
Help	Next > Cancel
Done	S Internet
http://v40eth.loneagle.co	om - v4Ueth.loneagle.com: WebServerClone   Co 😑 🛄
http://v40eth.loneagle.co	om - v40eth.loneagle.com: WebServerClone   Co       2 build-16390   root@v40eth.loneagle.com
<ul> <li>http://v40eth.loneagle.cc</li> <li>VMware ESX Server 2.5</li> <li>Virtual Disk</li> <li>Add a hard disk to yo</li> </ul>	om - v40efn.loneagle.com: WebServerLione   Co

Create a new virtual disk.

Attach an existing virtual disk to your virtual machine

Give your virtual machine direct access to a SAN LUN.

Inter

- a. Select the Adapters tab of the Network control panel and note that the adapter used on your physical server is displayed.
- b. Select Add... to add the AMD PCNet Family adapter.
- c. If prompted for the location of the driver, enter C:\i386. If the driver is not found in this location, you may need to insert your original Windows NT Server install CD.
- d. Note the network settings used for the physical server's network adapter. Highlight the adapter in the Adapters tab, and click Remove.
- e. Re-set your network settings for the AMD PCNet Family adapter, and restart the Windows OS. If you plan to run the original application on the physical server at the same time as you wish to run the application in the virtual environment, this is a good time to assign a unique IP address to the server in the virtual environment. If IP addressing affects your application, be sure to make the changes in its configuration files as well.

🐵 WebServerClone - v40eth.loneagle.com VMware ESX Server - VMware Remote Console 👘 🔲 🔀				
Eile Power Se	ttings <u>D</u> evices ⊻iew <u>H</u> elp			
Power Off	🔹 👂 Power On 📲 Suspend 🔹 🧐 Reset 🕞 🚺 Detach and Exit			
VMware ES	X Server: v40eth.loneagle.com	ote console		
	Network  ?  Identification Services Protocols Adapters Bindings			
ing comparer	Network Adapters:			
匙	Select Network Adapter			
Network Neighborhood	Click the Network Adapter that matches your hardware, and then click OK. If you have an installation disk for this component, click Have Dick	hts		
Unboy I	Network Adapter:			
	Advanced Micro Devices AM2100/AM1500T Adapter			
	Alied Telesyn AT-2560 Series PCI/100 Ethernet Adapter      Item t	p ts		
Explorer	D-Lir Andrew ISA IIA Token Hing Adapter			
	Have Disk			
necycle bin	OK Cancel	nas		
Event Viewer	OK Cancel			
🚮 Start 😡	Control Panel	V2 8:03 PM		
🔥 VMware Tool:	s is not running. Elick on this text to install.	<b>R-2-------------</b>		

- 11. Now you'll install VMware Tools. After the restart, log in using an administrator account again, and take your mouse out of the Remote Console window and note the warning that VMware Tools is not running at the bottom of the remote console window. Click on the text to begin the installation. If the source system had autorun turned off, the installation will not begin automatically. Click on **My Computer**, and double-click on the drive on which VMware Tools is mounted.
  - a. Proceed through the installation, accepting defaults.
  - b. Click OK on the warning that you will need to install the SVGA driver automatically.
  - c. Click Finish.
  - d. Select No when the install process asks to restart the virtual machine.
  - e. Follow the instructions for configuring the SVGA driver that appear in a Notepad window.
  - f. Once you've rebooted (according to the instructions), log in and you will receive a warning that a new display adapter has been installed. Change the color settings as you wish, and click Apply. Then click OK to exit the Display Properties control panel item
- 12. If you are using any other devices, such as SAN disk storage, where the device drivers have changed, you will need to replace the drivers that were used in the physical environment with the drivers that VMware supports in the virtual environment.

### **Test Your Application**

Now you can run and test your application in the virtual environment. In the case of consolidating an Apache Web server application running on the Microsoft Windows NT operating system, no changes were made to the configuration or application after the P2V process was complete — the Web server simply ran exactly as it did in the physical environment. To be sure, give your application developers a chance to take the application running in the virtual environment for a test drive.

The most significant change in the virtual environment is the use of a different Ethernet adapter. If your application doesn't work after the P2V process, double-check to be sure that basic network functions work in the virtual environment. Use the ping command from the Command Prompt to ensure that you can reach external systems. Bring up Internet Explorer and visit an internal Web site and one outside of your local-area network to be sure that both routing and DNS is set up correctly.

If you have networking problems, first double check that the virtual network adapter is attached to the virtual machine through its VMware control panel, and that the adapter is connected to a virtual switch that is connected to an external Ethernet port on the physical server. Double check that the Windows environment is set up to use the AMD PCNet Family adapter, and that your Windows Control Panel settings are correct.

# Chapter 7 Summary

IT organizations wishing to continue to run legacy applications have faced a limited number of choices given the increasing lack of support for their aging hardware, and the lack of drivers for some operating system environments on current hardware. The ability of VMware ESX Server to host these operating system environments and their applications on state-of-the-art, high-performance hardware including the Sun Fire V40z server gives IT organizations a new class of options. Not only can they use virtualization to run their applications on latest, supported hardware — they can harness the greater processing power, memory capacity, and disk storage of today's servers to consolidate multiple PC server environments onto a single platform. Using the strategy described in this article, IT organizations can upgrade their hardware, and use the upgrade process also to address their power, space, and cooling issues, exploiting the economies of scale that consolidation brings.

This Sun BluePrints article has described in step-by-step fashion how one such application — an Apache Web server running on the Windows NT Server operating system — could be consolidated onto ESX Server running on a Sun Fire V40z server with no changes to the application or its configuration. The only changes to the disk image imported by the physical-to-virtual process were to install drivers for the virtual network interface and display devices supported by the virtual machine environment. Once an application is consolidated into the virtual environment in this way, it can securely share a single platform with multiple instances of other supported operating systems and the applications that they host. Because each virtual machine provides an idealized environment to the guest operating system, the disk images created by the consolidation process are portable. So as this consolidation technique becomes proven in any given IT organization, PC workloads can be re-distributed among a growing number of servers by moving virtual disks and virtual machine configuration files.

Installing and configuring the ESX Server software, creating the helper virtual machine, installing and patching the Windows NT Server OS, and installing the VMware P2V Assistant software adds up to quite a few steps and a significant amount of time. Once this supporting environment has been created, however, the actual process of consolidating workloads onto the server is simple, straightforward, and fast. Indeed, the instructions in Chapter 6 can be repeated over and over to consolidate the contents of many physical servers into a single virtual environment. The best way to explore the value of this virtualization and consolidation technology to your IT organization is to conduct such an exercise on one of your applications — and discover exactly how straightforward the process is.

### About the Author

#### Marshall Choy

Marshall Choy has worked with Sun Microsystems, Inc. since 1998, and is currently a Technical Marketing x64 Servers Specialist in the Network Systems Group. During his career at Sun, Mr. Choy has held technical positions in technical support, software development, systems administration, and release engineering. Marshall's responsibilities span the various techniques for consolidating workloads onto Sun x64 servers, and he has traveled worldwide instructing Sun engagement architects, customers, and partners on virtualization and consolidation techniques using VMware ESX Server. Marshall received his B.S. in Business Administration and Commerce with a concentration in Operations and Management Information Systems from Santa Clara University.

### Acknowledgements

Marshall would like to thank Steve Gaede, a Sun contractor, for his work researching and preparing this Sun BluePrints article. Thanks to Deepa Aggarwal and Roger Bitar from Sun; and Ronald Kwan from VMware, for their careful review of the article. And special thanks go to Michael "Dino" Cicciarelli, Director, Systems Engineers and Strategic Alliances at VMware, Inc., for the guidance he gave through the development of this article. He often pointed us to existing VMware documentation, and sometimes clarified issues that presented challenges. The lessons learned from Dino have been incorporated into this article and have made it possible to pass on his knowledge to all of the readers of this article.

### References

The materials used in the consolidation effort and the development of this article are detailed in Chapter 2, and include server set-up information from Sun Microsystems, software downloads and documentation from VMware, and Microsoft Windows NT Server install disks and software from Microsoft. The Web sites used to collect these materials are:

- Sun materials from the Sun Fire V40z documentation CDs or from http://docs.sun.com.
- VMware ESX Server and P2V Assistant software and documentation from http://www.vmware.com.
- Microsoft Windows NT Service Pack 6a and Internet Explorer 6 from http://www.microsoft.com/downloads.

### **Ordering Sun Documents**

The SunDocs<sup>™</sup> program provides more than 250 manuals from Sun Microsystems, Inc. If you live in the United States, Canada, Europe, or Japan, you can purchase documentation sets or individual manuals through this program.

### Accessing Sun Documentation Online

The docs.sun.com Web site enables you to access Sun technical documentation online. You can browse the docs.sun.com archive or search for a specific book title or subject. The URL is <a href="http://docs.sun.com/">http://docs.sun.com/</a>

To reference Sun BluePrints OnLine articles, visit the Sun BluePrints OnLine Web site at:

http://www.sun.com/blueprints/online.html

46-Summary

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 4150 Network Circle, Santa Clara, CA 95054 USA Phone 1-650-960-1300 or 1-800-555-9SUN Web sun.com

